**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

James B. Jackson, Jr., Master in Equity

Case No. 2015-001112

South Carolina Federal Credit Union,

Respondent

v.

Dorothy Harley Sistrunk aka Dorothy  
Harley-Sistrunk aka Dorothy A. Harley  
aka Dorothy Sistrunk

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

December 21, 2015

Dorothy Harley Sistrunk  
423 Bayne Street  
Orangeburg, South Carolina 29115  
Ph: (803) 268-0716  
Fx: (803) 534-6727

Moore & Van Allen, PLLC  
Reid E. Dyer  
78 Wentworth Street  
Post Office Box 22828 (29413-2828)  
Charleston, SC 29401-1428  
Ph: (843) 579-7045  
Fx: (843) 579-8754

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I. LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCP. Did the lower court lack subject matter jurisdiction to rule on; and issue an Order of Judgment for a Complaint that was never filed?

### II. ABUSE OF DISCRETION

- A. Did the lower court judge abuse his discretion by improperly granting judgment when issues of fact, material facts and law still exist that mandate a jury trial, rather than an Order of Judgment?
- B. Did the lower court judge abuse his discretion by denying the Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend the Order of Judgment and for a New Trial when evidence and exhibits that have never been seen or reviewed in court were never considered during 4 years of litigation that should have been presented to a jury or at the very least, reviewed before issuing an Order of Judgment?

### III. ERRORS OF FACT OR LAW

- A. Did the lower court err by failing to consider the Appellant's judicial admissions in Notarized, Sworn to and Verified Pleadings?
- B. Did the lower court err by failing to rule on the Appellant's Counterclaim for TILA violations before issuing an Order of Judgment?
- C. Did the lower court err by failing to rule on the Appellant's Counterclaim for SCUTPA violations before issuing an Order of Judgment?
- D. The Appellant is Pro Se. Did the lower court err by failing to inform the Appellant of her right to a Jury Trial after Summary Judgments were denied, rather than consent, uninformed, to a Master in Equity hearing?
- E. Did the lower court err by failing to rule on the Appellant's Affirmative Defense for Recoupment before issuing an Order of Judgment?
- F. Did the lower court err by failing to rule on the Appellant's Affirmative Defense of Unclean Hands before issuing an Order of Judgment?
- G. Did the lower court err by failing to consider SCFCU's and/or SCFCU's law firm's false evidence and testimony, dishonest conduct and misrepresentation of material facts before issuing an Order of Judgment?
- H. Did the lower court err by failing to comply with Rule 42(b), SCRCP?
- I. Did the lower court err by failing to comply with Rule 54(b), SCRCP?
- J. Did the lower court err by failing to comply with Rule 13(a), SCRCP?

- K. Did the lower court err by failing to comply with Amendment VII to the United States Constitution before issuing an Order of Judgment?
- L. Did the lower court err by failing to comply with Article I – Section 14 of South Carolina’s Constitution before issuing an Order of Judgment?

The Appellant has 11 Counterclaims and 18 Affirmative Defenses relative to this case and none were ruled upon or considered by the lower court. Therefore, the Appellant’s Statement of the Issues; divisions and subparts, are not a smorgasbord, an issue buffet or a shotgun approach to Appellate review. The Judges at the Appellate level are too busy for that. The aforementioned are simply the most serious violations, when it comes to adjudicating this case according to the facts, the law and civil procedure rules.

{R. Vol. III, pp. 572-608}

(1) Pye v. Estate of Fox, 633 SE 2d 505 (2006) “[I]n *Coward Hund*, the court of appeals explained: “The purpose of Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to alter or amend the judgment[,] is to request the trial judge to `reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits.” Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992) (quoting Budinich v. Becton Dickinson and Co., 486 U.S. 196, 200, 108 S.Ct. 1717, 100 L.Ed.2d 178 (1988)). As one authority has noted, “Once the issue has been properly raised by a Rule 59(e) motion, it appears that it is preserved and a second motion is not required if the trial court does not specifically rule on the issue so raised.” *James F. Flanagan South Carolina Civil Procedure* 475 (2d ed.1996).”

(2) North River Ins. Co. v. CIGNA Reinsurance Co., 52 F. 3d 1194 (3rd Cir. 1995) “[A] proper motion to alter or amend judgment “must rely on one of three major grounds: (1) an intervening change in controlling law; (2) the availability of new evidence [not available previously]; [or] (3) the need to correct clear error [of law] or prevent manifest injustice” Natural Resources Defense Council v. United States Env’tl. Protection Agency, 705 F.Supp. 698, 702 (D.D.C.1989) (quoting All Hawaii Tours, Corp. v. Polynesian Cultural Ctr., 116 F.R.D. 645, 649 (D.Haw. 1987).”

(3) I’ON, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000), “[I]f the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” Noisette v. Ismail, 304 S.C. 56, 403 S.E.2d 122 (1991) (holding that where a trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument raised, and appellant makes no Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Introduction.

It is virtually impossible to properly adjudicate case #2015-001112 without an understanding and/or insight into the factual history of this case that occurred in 2002 and 2003 prior to litigation. The factual history of this case is in the court's records in Notarized, Sworn to, and/or Verified Pleadings that have never been contested in 4 years. Instead of the Court's record, eyewitness testimony and affidavits of fact, Judge Jackson, like Judge Goodstein, relied on attorney arguments. {R. Vol. III, ¶¶202-204, p. 623}

It is not easy condensing 4 years of abuses into 50 pages. In order to conserve paper and space, all caps will be used sparingly and subparts of uncontroverted and uncontested facts in Verified Pleadings will be single spaced. **Since allegations are stated with specificity and particularity, this "Brief" will be verified.** Much of the history of this case is in the **Statement of the Evidence** that is identified by the acronym [SOTE] that is dated and filed on June 15, 2015.

This appeal is before the Appellate Court, because the lower court denied the Appellant's Motions for (1) A New Trial; (2) To Alter or Amend the Judgment; and (3) To Vacate the Order of Judgment Order. {Appellant Exhibits 41,46 & 47; R. pp. 3-9}

(1) *Black's Law Dictionary* (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 1968), pg 706, defines [Fact], in pertinent parts as; "[A] thing done; an action performed or an incident transpiring; an event or circumstance; an actual occurrence. An actual happening in time or space or an event mental or physical..." "That which has taken place, not what might or might not have taken place."

(2) *Diblik v. Marcy*, 166 P.3d 23, 28 (Alaska 2007) "[A] [Material Fact] is one "to which a reasonable man might be expected to attach importance in making his choice of action." It is a fact which could reasonably be expected to influence someone's judgment or conduct concerning a transaction. (quoting W. Prosser, *Law of Torts* § 108, at 719 (4th ed. 1971))" [Note: **Boldness** with Capitalization and **Boldness** without Capitalization are for emphasis.]

**B. The facts and the material facts in this case.**

**“[F]acts are stronger than arguments, more dependable than opinions and more profound than reasoning. Facts silence disputes, supersedes predictions and always end the argument when presented to anyone with reasonable intelligence.”**  
{Dr. Walter Williams}

The Appellant does not argue law or speculate about legal theories. Therefore, she can never be accused of the “Unauthorized Practice of Law”. The Appellant states the facts relative to the lower court’s or SCFCU’s Errors of Law and/or Judgment as to the facts and/or law. Finally, the Appellant supports her “Statements of Fact” with the appropriate evidentiary basis and/or material/s; be it an Exhibit, Affidavit, Document, Eye-witness Testimony and/or Citation to an Authority. {R. Vol. III, ¶93, p. 569}

*Straeter Distributing v. Fry-Wagner Moving*, 862 S.W.2d 415, 417 (Mo.App. E.D. 1993) at 417. “[T]he three components of a point relied on are: a concise statement of the challenged ruling of the trial court; the rule of law the court should have applied; and the evidentiary basis upon which the asserted rule is applicable. Points which do not state what ruling of the trial court is challenged nor provide a proper evidentiary basis, but instead set out abstract statements of law, preserve nothing for appeal. Id.”

**(Fact: #1)** For over 4 years, the lower court judge never conducted any hearings on the Appellant’s *Demand for a Jury Trial* that was filed in June of 2011 at the Magistrate Court and December of 2011 in this Action. {R. Vol. III, ¶170(a), p. 611} For over 2 years Judge Goodstein never scheduled a hearing for the Appellant’s *Motion for Summary Judgment* that was filed in April of 2012. {R. Vol. III, ¶170(b)-(c), p. 611}

Judge Goodstein did not review the Appellant’s evidence, objections, affidavits and exhibits in or attached to Verified Pleadings {Rule 10(c), SCRCP} and did not acknowledge the fact that no Statement of Fact has ever been refuted, denied or contested by SCFCU in 4 years. This was also overlooked by Judge Jackson. {R. Vol. III, ¶4, p. 482}

**(Fact: #2}** When Judge Jackson took over the case, he did not go back to 2011. Judge Jackson based his entire assessment of the case on SCFCU's presentation on February 18, 2015. On February 18, 2015, SCFCU's attorney from Moore & Van Allen, PLLC, Reid E. Dyer, handed Judge Jackson the Exhibit Notebook with SCFCU's **Bogus Addendum**. My testimony was basically ignored; as well as, the Evidence, Affidavits and Exhibits that are in the Court's record and have been there since 2011.

(1) *The Long Term View, Massachusetts School of Law*, Vol. 4, No. 1, 1997, pp. 90-97 "[j]udicial independence is predicated on "good faith" decision-making. It was never intended to include "bad-faith" decision-making, where a judge knowingly and deliberately disregards the facts and law of a case. This is properly the subject of disciplinary review, irrespective of whether it is correctable on appeal."

(2) *Tipton v. Bergrohr GMBH-Siegen*, 965 F. 2d 994 (11th Cir. 1992) "[I]n opposing summary judgment, the nonmoving party may avail itself of all facts and justifiable inferences in the record taken as a whole. See *United States v. Diebold, Inc.*, 369 U.S. 654, 655, 82 S.Ct. 993, 994, 8 L.Ed.2d 176 (1962). In reviewing whether the nonmoving party has met its burden, the court must stop short of weighing the evidence and making credibility determinations of the truth of the matter. *Anderson*, 477 U.S. at 255, 106 S.Ct. at 2513. Instead, "[t]he evidence of the **non-movant is to be believed**, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his favor." *Id.* (citing *Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co.*, 398 U.S. 144, 158-59, 90 S.Ct. 1598, 1608-09, 26 L.Ed.2d 142 (1970)). If, so viewed, a rational trier of fact could find a verdict for the nonmoving party under the substantive evidentiary standard, the nonmoving party can defeat summary judgment. *Id.* 477 U.S. at 252, 106 S.Ct. at 2512." [Boldness added for emphasis]

1. **Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1).**

**(Fact: #3)** The first element that led to this appeal is the lower court judge abused his discretion by signing an Order of Judgment for a Complaint and Debt Collection that was never filed in Court. {R. Vol. III, ¶¶93-96, pp. 569-571} **(Material Fact: #1)** No Complaint and Debt Collection was ever filed for a LOANLINER® loan that was executed and delivered on February 28, 2003. {R. Vol. III, ¶129 & subparts (a)-(b), p. 586}

(1) *Cox v. Lunsford*, 272 S.C. 527, 252 S.E. (2d) 918 (1979) "[P]arties cannot by consent confer jurisdiction upon a court."

(2) *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Godwin*, 634 SE 2d 59 (Ct. App. 2006) “[T]he appellate court must always take notice of the lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. Passmore*, 316 S.C. 112, 114, 447 S.E.2d 207, 208 (1994). The lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time, can be raised for the first time on appeal, and can be raised sua sponte by the court. See, e.g., *Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co.*, 330 S.C. 242, 248, 498 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct.App.1998) (holding issues related to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time)”

(3) *Bunkum v. Manor Properties*, 467 SE 2d 758 (Ct. App. 1996) “[S]ince the master had entered final judgment in this case, and therefore had no subject matter jurisdiction to hear the motion for assessment of costs, fees, expenses and damages against the appeal bond, his order entering judgment against Bunkum on the appeal bond is void. See *DeWitt v. S.C. Dept. of Highways & Public Transp.*, 274 S.C. 184, 262 S.E.2d 28 (1980) (all proceedings of a court lacking subject matter jurisdiction are a nullity, and its judgment has no effect).

## 2. Abuse of Discretion.

**(Fact: #4)** The second element that led to this appeal is the lower court abused its discretion. An Error of Law is manifest when the error is indisputable, obvious and warrants reversal on appeal. A failure to exercise discretion is also an Abuse of Discretion.

(1) *Tri-County Ice & Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co.*, 303 S.C. 237, 242, 399 S.E.2d 799, 782 (1990). “[A]n abuse of discretion arises where the order was controlled by an error of law or where the order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support.”

(2) *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105,112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1997). “[A] failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion.”

**(Fact: #5)** Rules 12 & 56, SCRCF do not require a lower court judge to do any fact finding. **(Fact: #6)** Rule 56(c), SCRCF clearly states in pertinent parts, “[T]he judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” A failure to “Substantially Comply” with the requirements of Rule 56(c) can also be an Abuse of Discretion. {R. Vol. III, ¶7(b), p. 485 & ¶¶9-10, p. 486}

*Ballon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 152, 155, 399 S.E.2d 439, 441 (1990). “[W]hen a trial judge is vested with discretion; but his ruling reveals no discretion was in fact exercised, an error of law has occurred.”

**(Fact: #7)** There is no information in South Carolina’s Rules of Civil Procedure that tells a Pro Se litigant what to do if a Judge does not schedule hearings for motions, ignores objections, does not read the pleadings, fails to explain the difference between a trial and a hearing and the expectations during each...or why a trial; with or without a jury, was denied or replaced with a no evidence hearing for a summary judgment motion.

Case #2015-001112 / 2011-CP-38-1392 is another precedent setting case like Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Sistrunk, Case #2014-001683 / 2008-CP-38-1024 because both are analogous to a Judge writing a court order that sends the witnesses to a crime and/or the victims of a crime to prison. Such acts by sitting judges violate public policy, the rule of law and makes a mockery of justice. {Code of Judicial Conduct CANON 2}

If a Judge is going to pass judgment without a jury and he/ she is not going to read the pleadings, at least conduct the hearings so that all the claims and/or issues and the facts and the truth can be accurately determined. If a Judge is not going to initiate a truth-determining process during the hearings, at least read the pleading or substantially comply with Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

(1) *Rule 13(a), SCRMC*, clearly states in pertinent parts; “.....[I]n the trial of a civil action, in which one or both parties are unrepresented by legal counsel, the court shall question the parties and witnesses in order to assure that all claims and defenses are fully presented.” This did not happen in Judge Goodstein’s Court for almost 3 years.

(2) *Rule 614(a)-(b), SCRE*, states the following in pertinent parts.. “[a] In extraordinary circumstances, the court may, on its own motion or at the suggestion of a party, call witnesses, and all parties are entitled to cross-examine witnesses thus called. Before calling a court's witness, the court shall afford the parties a hearing on the matter outside the presence of the jury. (b) When required by the interests of justice only, the court may interrogate witnesses.”

(3) *Williams v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mutual Ins. Co.*, 251 S.C. 464, 163 S.E.2d 212 (1968) "[T]he trial judge, of course, has the right, in his discretion, and in a proper manner, to question witnesses during a trial, in order to elicit the truth. This discretion will not be controlled except where it appears that the manner in which the judge exercised the right tended to unduly impress the jury with the importance of the testimony elicited, or would be likely to lead the jury to suppose that the judge was of the opinion that one party rather than the other was correct upon a particular issue of fact."

3. Errors of Fact or Law.

**(Fact: #8)** For almost 3 years, (December of 2011-July of 2014) Judge Goodstein did not conduct any hearing on any of the Appellant's judicial and/or evidentiary admissions in Notarized, Sworn to and/or Verified Pleadings. Therefore, she had no idea as to the extent and nature of SCFCU's and/or SCFCU's attorneys misrepresented material facts, false documentation, misconduct and false statements. {Vol. III, ¶180, pp. 615-16}

**(Fact: #9)** When Judge Jackson took over the case, he was also not aware of the various types of misrepresentation of material facts, false documentation, concealment of material facts, dishonest conduct and false statements from SCFCU and/or SCFCU's attorneys ---- the most egregious one being; **(Material Fact: #2 – SCFCU's Misrepresentation of a Material Fact)** "[T]hat on or about February 24, 2003, the Defendant executed and delivered to South Carolina Federal Credit Union that certain Open-End Disbursement Receipt Plus Loanliner® Credit and Security Agreement ("Fixed Interest Rate Agreement") calling for the payment of the sum of Five Thousand Five Hundred Fifty-Six and 44/100 Dollars (\$5,556.44) a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and incorporated herein by reference" {Complaint, R. ¶7, p. 36}

**(Material Fact: #3)** The Appellant never executed and delivered any such agreement to SCFCU on February 24, 2003 and there is no paperwork, agreement or voucher for it. {R. Vol. III, ¶51, p. 509}

(1) New York Life Ins. Co. v. Wittman, 813 F. Supp. 1287 n. 6 (OH: D. Ct. N.D. 1993) ---“[a] party seeking avoidance of a contract at common law. See Restatement (Second) of Contract § 164(1) (“Misrepresentation makes a contract voidable ... if a party's manifestation of assent is induced by *either fraudulent or material* misrepresentation....”) See also Introductory note preceding § 159 of the Restatement (“Notably, under tort law a misrepresentation does not give rise to liability for fraudulent misrepresentation unless it is both fraudulent and material, while under contract law a misrepresentation may make a contract voidable if it is either fraudulent or material.”)”

(2) **(Fact: #10)** Rule 11(a), SCRPC, clearly states in pertinent parts; “[T]he written or electronic signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate by him that he has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief there is good ground to support it;”

(3) However, once this belief is proven erroneous or false by the facts, material facts, the evidence and the truth... Rule 3.3, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR: Candor Toward The Tribunal, clearly states the following in pertinent parts; [**Boldness** shall be added for emphasis.]

**(Facts: #11 - #14)** “[**(a)**] **A lawyer shall not knowingly:**

(1) make a false statement of fact or law to a tribunal or fail to correct a false statement of material fact or law previously made to the tribunal by the lawyer;

(2) fail to disclose to the tribunal legal authority in the controlling jurisdiction known to the lawyer to be directly adverse to the position of the client and not disclosed by opposing counsel;

or

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