THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY

MAR 21 2016

James B. Jackson, Jr., Master-In-Equity
Trial Court Case No. 2011CP3801392

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-001112

South Carolina Federal Credit Union.Respondent,

v.

Dorothy Harley Sistrunk a/k/a Dorothy
Harley-Sistrunk a/k/a Dorothy A. Harley
a/k/a Dorothy SistrunkAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Cynthia Jordan Lowery (SC Bar No. 12499)
Reid E. Dyer (SC Bar No. 79155)
MOORE & VAN ALLEN, PLLC
78 Wentworth Street
Post Office Box 22828
Charleston, SC 29413-2828
Telephone: (843) 579-7000
Email: cynthialowery@mvalaw.com
reiddy@mvallaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. HAS APPELLANT FURNISHED A SUFFICIENT RECORD TO ALLOW THE COURT OF APPEALS TO CONDUCT A MEANINGFUL REVIEW?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO HEAR AND DETERMINE THIS MATTER?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION SUCH THAT REVERSAL IS WARRANTED?
- IV. HAS ANY ERROR OF FACT OR LAW COMMITTED BY THE TRIAL COURT BEEN ESTABLISHED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a collections action brought by South Carolina Federal Credit Union (“Respondent”) against Appellant Dorothy Harley Sistrunk a/k/a Dorothy Harley-Sistrunk a/k/a Dorothy A. Harley Sistrunk a/k/a Dorothy Sistrunk (“Appellant”) for a judgment on the balance owed on Appellant’s Open-End Fixed Rate of Interest Personal Access Line of Credit Account (“PAL Account”) with Respondent. Respondent commenced its action by filing its Complaint on November 23, 2011. (R. p. 35-39). Appellant filed an Answer and Counterclaims, pro se, on December 21, 2011. (R. p. 40-77).

On April 25, 2012, and May 11, 2012, Appellant and SCFCU, respectively, filed motions for summary judgment. (R. p. 78-79 and 119-120). The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein heard the motions on July 10, 2012. Appellant’s motion was denied orally at the hearing and then pursuant a Form 4 order entered October 22, 2012. (R. p. 217). Judge Goodstein agreed to withhold judgment on Respondent’s motion for summary judgment to allow Respondent to address issues raised by the court at the hearing.

Prior to the trial court’s issuing a ruling on Respondent’s motion for summary judgment, on November 19, 2013, Appellant filed a pleading styled as “Request to Submit for a Decision Pursuant to Rule 56(e), SCRCP,” which appeared to be a second motion for summary judgment on her counterclaims. (R. p. 254-274). In response, Respondent filed a renewed motion for summary judgment as to Respondent’s complaint and Appellant’s counterclaims. (R. p. 304-305). The

Honorable James B. Jackson, Jr. heard Appellant's request to submit and Respondent's renewed motion for summary judgment on April 10, 2014, denying both because numerous issues of fact were in dispute that necessitated a trial; a Form 4 order to that effect was entered by Judge Jackson on April 23, 2014. (Appendix to the Record on Appeal ("R.App.") p. 1-2).

At the conclusion of the April 10 hearing, the parties consented to refer the matter to Judge Jackson, as Master-in-Equity, for a non-jury trial, and a Form 4 order referring the matter to Judge Jackson was entered on April 30, 2014. (R. p. 1-2).

A non-jury trial was conducted on February 18, 2015, at which testimony and documentary evidence were introduced by Respondent and Appellant. At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Jackson took the matter under advisement. A written order granting judgment in favor of Respondent in the amount of \$4,625.82 was subsequently filed by the trial court on March 26, 2015. (The "Order"; R. p. 3-5).

On April 6, 2015, Appellant filed a "Motion To Alter Or Amend The Order Of Judgment Pursuant To Rule 59(e), SCRCF." (R. p. 384-385). On April 8, 2015, Appellant filed a "Motion For A New Trial Pursuant To Rule 52(b), SCRCF And In Conjunction With Her Motion To Alter Or Amend The Order Of Judgment Pursuant To Rule 59(c), SCRCF That Was Filed On April 6, 2015." (R. p. 433-435). Judge Jackson denied both of these motions pursuant to a Form 4 order filed April 20, 2015, on the basis that neither motion raised any new issues not considered in the Order. (R. p. 6-7). On May 1, 2015, Appellant filed a "Motion To Set Aside The Judgment And Vacate The Order Ending This Case Due To Judicial Errors That Do Not

Comply With Rules 42(b), 52(b), 54(b), 56(c)-(d), 60(b)(3), SCRCP, South Carolina's Policies of Law, Precedents And The 7th Amend. To The Constitution Of The United States Of America." (R. p. 436-441). Appellant's May 1 motion was denied by the trial court's order filed on May 21, 2015, which further clarified that any other motions filed by Appellant, as well as any counterclaims of Appellant, were denied and further directed that any further action by any party be in the form of an appeal for the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (The "May 21 Order"; R. p. 10-12). On May 22, 2015, Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal of the Order.

FACTS

The facts in this case are generally as set forth in the Order. On September 5, 2002, Appellant became a member of Respondent by executing that certain Member 1 Plan Application (“Application”) in order to obtain an automobile loan from Respondent, which has since been paid in full (the “Auto Loan”). (R.App. p. 4-5). Upon executing the Application, Appellant agreed to the terms and conditions of Respondent’s Membership and Account Agreement and Credit and Security Agreement (the “Agreement”; R.App. p. 6-15), including addendum(s) thereto (the “Addendum”; R.App. p. 16-18) and Credit Insurance Certificate (the “Certificate”; R.App. p. 19-20). (See Application; R.App. p. 5). Appellant also agreed that the terms and conditions of the Agreement, Addendum, and Certificate would apply to all future extensions of credit or advances to Appellant by Respondent. (Order; R. p. 3-4).

In requesting the Auto Loan, Appellant also elected credit disability and credit life insurance coverage (the “Insurance”), which authorized SCFCU to add the premiums for the Insurance to her loan balance each month and notified the Appellant that she had the right to stop the Insurance by notifying SCFCU in writing. (See Certificate; R.App. p. 20). Appellant’s Insurance coverage election applied to all eligible future extensions of credit or advances made by Respondent to Appellant and would continue to do so unless cancelled by Appellant. (Order; R. p. 4).

The Agreement also required Appellant to examine each statement received for irregularities and notify Respondent within thirty-three (33) days of the mailing of

any statement of any unauthorized items drawn on the account; failure to timely examine statements (or notify Respondent of any statements not received) and dispute any unauthorized charge would waive Respondent's liability for any such charge. Agreement (Agreement; R.App. p. 10-11, ¶ 24). Additionally, the Agreement provided that Appellant could make future requests thereunder for additional extensions of credit, which would also be governed by the terms of the Agreement and associated documents. (Agreement; R.App. p. 12).

In February 2003, Appellant electronically requested from Respondent an additional extension of credit in the amount of \$5,500.00 and was advised by Respondent on February 24, 2003 via e-mail that Appellant had been approved for a PAL Account in the amount of \$5,500.00 at a rate of 15% interest. (R. p. 650). On or about February 28, 2003, Respondent mailed to Appellant a check for the PAL Account proceeds in the amount of \$5,500.00, along with an Open-End Disbursement Receipt Plus of even date. (The "Receipt"; R. p. 647-48). The Receipt clearly establishes that the PAL Account is an open-ended line of credit. (Receipt; R. p. 647). The Receipt also provides that by endorsing the check or having the loan proceeds deposited into Appellant's account, Appellant agreed to make payments in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. (Receipt; R. p. 647). In the more than eight (8) years Appellant received statements and paid on the PAL Account, Appellant never objected to or disputed any charges on her statement as unauthorized, and Judge Jackson found that the payment history submitted at trial was accurate. (R. p. 4). Appellant also never timely notified Respondent of her desire to cancel the

credit disability and credit life insurance coverage she originally requested on the Auto Loan, and therefore credit disability and credit life insurance coverage were applied to the PAL Account. (R. p. 4).

Respondent subsequently requested two additional, smaller advances under the PAL Account, a \$350 advance on November 22, 2006 and a \$500 advance on October 25, 2007. (See Account Statements, R.App. p. 117 and 139; Account Summary, R.App. p. 662-63). While Appellant made payments on the account in the amount of \$110.00 per month for some time, the outstanding balance on Appellant's account as of January 1, 2011 was \$4,625.82.¹ (R.App. p. 221; see generally, R. App. p. 21-242). At that time, Appellant's PAL Account was in payment default, and Respondent subsequently initiated this action.

¹ The trial court found that the credit life and credit disability premiums plus the contract interest rate of 15% per annum resulted in little of Appellant's payments being applied to principal. (R. p. 4).

ARGUMENT²

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

It is unquestioned that an action to collect on a debt pursuant to a contract, such as is the case here, is an action at law. *See, e.g., Williams v. Riedman*, 339 S.C. 251, 259, 529 S.E.2d 28, 32 (Ct. App. 2000) (breach of contract is an action at law). The matter was tried by Judge Jackson without a jury pursuant to the consent of the parties. In an action at law tried without a jury, an appellate court “views the trial court’s findings of fact as equivalent to a jury’s findings in a law action, and will not disturb the findings unless the Court views the trial court’s findings to be without reasonable evidentiary support.” *Abbeville County Sch. Dist. v. State*, 410 S.C. 619, 629, 767 S.E.2d 157, 162 (2014). *See also, Moseley v. All Things Possible*, 395 S.C. 492, 495, 719 S.E.2d 656, 658 (2011). Therefore, an appellate court’s scope of review of such matters generally extends only to corrections of errors of law. *Id.* “The rule is the same whether the judge’s findings are made with or without a reference.” *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

II. APPELLANT FAILED TO FURNISH A SUFFICIENT RECORD TO ALLOW THE COURT OF APPEALS TO CONDUCT A MEANINGFUL REVIEW.

Under South Carolina law, an appellant has the burden of providing the appellate court with a sufficient record upon which the court can make its decision.

² In addition to the arguments set forth herein, Respondent would also request that the Court of Appeals affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c), SCACR.

Germain v. Nichol, 278 S.C. 508, 509, 299 S.E.2d 335, 335 (1983); *D & D Leasing Co. v. Gentry*, 298 S.C. 342, 344, 380 S.E.2d 823, 824 (1989) (“The burden was on Petitioner, as appellant, to furnish a sufficient record from which an intelligent review could be conducted.”). For example, in *Germain*, the appellant asserted that the evidence did not justify an award of actual damages against it. In affirming the trial court, our Supreme Court held that because the appellant had failed to present any of the trial testimony, the appellant had failed to satisfy its burden of providing a sufficient record. *Germain*, 278 S.C. at 509, 299 S.E.2d at 335. Similarly, in *Broom v. Southeastern Highway Contracting Co.*, 291 S.C. 93, 352 S.E.2d 302 (Ct. App. 1986), the appellant failed to include transcripts of the proceedings being appealed. The Court of Appeals found that, as a result, it knew nothing about the showing, if any, made by the appellant to the trial court. *Broom*, 291 S.C. at 97, 352 S.E.2d at 304. Affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals then held that, because the appellant had failed to satisfy its burden of furnishing a sufficient record, it “must assume the regularity of the proceedings below and the correctness of the ruling appealed from.” *Id.* See also, *Hamilton v. Greyhound Lines East*, 281 S.C. 442, 316 S.E.2d 368 (1984) (dismissing appeal in which appealing party failed to carry burden of furnishing a sufficient record); *Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church*, 329 S.C. 433, 447, 494 S.E.2d 827, 834 (Ct. App. 1997) (where an appellant fails to provide an adequate record on an issue, the appellate court must affirm the trial court).³

³ While the South Carolina Supreme Court recently held in *Woodson v. DLI Props, LLC*, 406 S.C. 517,

Here, Appellant has not ordered a transcript of the February 18, 2015 trial hearing as required by Rule 207(a), SCACR, and has, in fact, filed pleadings with this Court affirmatively stating that she will not order the transcript. *See* Appellant's Certification That No Transcript Will Be Ordered. Appellant's failure to order the transcript is fatal to her appeal. Appellant's appeal is of the Order, which was issued based upon the evidence presented at the trial hearing, and the trial court was only permitted to consider the evidence presented at trial in making its findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the Order. Because the trial court could only consider evidence presented at trial, the transcript is necessary in order to create a sufficient record on which the Court of Appeals can review the trial court's decision for determination of any error. Because Appellant has failed to satisfy her burden to create a sufficient record on appeal, her appeal should be denied and the trial court's order affirmed.

III. APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF RELIES ON NUMEROUS EXHIBITS AND FACTS NOT PRESENTED AT TRIAL.

Appellant's initial brief relies on numerous exhibits and "facts" which were not presented or made part of the record at trial, the verification of which cannot be made due to Appellant's failure to request a transcript. Therefore, it would be improper for an appellate court to consider these "facts" for purposes of appeal. *See*

753 S.E.2d 428 (2014), that, in the context of an appeal from a grant of summary judgment, a transcript may not be necessary where the depositions, interrogatories, affidavits, and other evidentiary material presented to the trial court are provided upon appeal, such is not the case here. This appeal is from a bench trial verdict rather than summary judgment, and therefore, unlike in *Woodson*, the trial court was only permitted to consider the evidence presented at trial. In the absence of the trial

Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on appeal “shall not, however, include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal.”).

Moreover, Respondent vehemently disputes that any false, deceptive, or otherwise misleading evidence was presented at trial, and the undersigned represents to the Court that any evidence presented and/or statements made at trial were, to the best of his knowledge, true and correct.

IV. RESPONDENT’S RESPONSES TO APPELLANT’S ARGUMENTS.

Respondent initially notes that many of the arguments raised by Appellant in her brief cite to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure which apply to motions for summary judgment, dismissal, and other matters which are irrelevant at trial. To the extent that Appellant cites any rules which apply to pretrial issues as a basis for arguments raised on appeal, those rules are inapplicable because the Order and post-trial motions being appealed were issued as a result of a trial on the merits, and any pretrial matters are not the subject of this appeal.

A. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

Appellant argues that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to issue the Order. This contention is in error. First, the South Carolina Constitution, Art. V, § 11 clearly grants circuit courts with general jurisdiction in civil matters: “The Circuit Court shall be a general trial court with original jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases, except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts,

transcript, it is impossible for an appellate court to determine what evidence was presented which lead to the trial court’s decision.

and shall have such appellate jurisdiction as provided by law.” No inferior court has exclusive jurisdiction to hear breach of contract matters, and thus, as the court of general jurisdiction, the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction to properly issue the Order. For the same reason, Appellant’s contention the complaint should be dismissed because the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCP, also fails.

Appellant also contends that no complaint was ever filed with respect to the PAL Account. Such is clearly not the case, as, a complaint seeking a judgment on the PAL Account was filed on November 23, 2011 and a certificate of service of the complaint on Respondent was filed on December 15, 2011. (R.App. p. 3). Moreover, according to her designation of the record, Appellant filed an answer to the complaint on December 21, 2011 (*see* R. p. 40-77) – it is unclear how Appellant could have answered a complaint that did not exist. As such, any contention that no complaint exists is patently false.

B. Appellant Has Not Established That The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion.

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